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1. Name

1) Joseph Bancroft & Sons Cotton Mills or Rockford Cotton Mills, and
historic dywine Cotton Mills or James Riddle & Son Mills

and-orcommon The Bancroft Mills

2. Location

street & number Rockford Road at the Brandywine River —- not for publication
city, town  Wilmington —— vicinity of
state Delaware 19806 code 10 county New Castle code 003
. L] [
3. Classification |
Category Ownership Status Proiom Use
— district —- public —X_ occupied — agriculture — museum
— bullding(s) X private —X_ unoccupied -X_ commercial — park
— Structure e DOth . WOTkK in progress — educational X_ private residence
— site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment — teligious
— Object _NA in process — Yes: restricted — government - 8cientific
x complex _NA being considered —X. yes: unrestricted -X_ industrial — iransportation
—_—hno —— military — other:

4. Owner of Property

name See Continuation Sheet, Item 4

street & number

city, town L. vicinity of state

5. Location of Legal Description

courthiouse, registry of deeds, etc.  City and County Building

street # number 800 French Street

city, town Wilmington state Deilaware 19801

6. Representation in Existing Surveys 4]0, see Contiruation
(HN-3040) ?

ive Delaware Cultural Resonurce Survey has this property been determincd eligible? ___yes ____ no

date — federal ___ state ___ county ___ local

Bureau of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State House
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Owners

The complex refers in part to New Castle County property #26-002.30, with subdivisions
001, 002, 006, 007, and 008 (New Castle County, 1983). The owners are recorded as

follows:

001 - Brandywine Falls Development Co.
200 A Street, P. 0. Box 2167
Wiimington, Delaware 19801

002 - Industrial Park Trust
Charles M. Allmond 111, Trustee
62 Wilmington Trust Building

1118 King Street
Wilmington, Delaware 19801

006 - Charles C. Parks, Sr., and Inge R. Parks
44 Bancroft Mills
Wilmington, Delaware 19806

007 ~ Ganik and Co.
29 Bancroft Mills
Wilmington, Delaware 19806

008 - Industrial Park Trustee
Charles M. Allmond I1I
62 Wilmington Trust Building
1118 King Street
Wilmington, Delaware 19801
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Representation in Existing Surveys

Title: Historic American Engineering Record

Date: August 1974

Classification: PBulk; Textile (50.0) (15.7)

Depository: National Park Service

City: Washington, DC 20240

Priority: 1-A
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7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

-X_ excellent — deteriorated .__ unaitered X original site

—X_good — uins —X_ altered —.moved date -_. . _ .. _ _.__ . .. ...
—X. fair —— unexposed ;

——— e e e s e e+ e e s o e e

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Bancroft Mills is a collaction of buildings which stretches for three-quarters of
2 mile along the south bank of the Brandywine River about one-and-a-half miles from
the center of Wilmington, Delaware. The property is confined to a narrow channel by
high and precipitous banks which allow only a limited floor on the south shore.

Across the stream, the northside valley floor is undeveloped private property iden-
tified as a wooded bowi which reaches upstream to parkland and downstream to the old
brick masses of the Augustine Paper Mills (NR) below the Augustine bridge. On the
bluffs above this riparian tract is Alapocas, a residential middle-:lass community
laid out before 1941. Parkland protects much of the rest of the valley as it runs in
. an easterly direction'to the city center; to the west is more parkland and the famed
Hagley Mills, Brack's Mill, and the duPont Powder Works (NT; NL) while further upstream
is the Rockland Mill (NR) now being renovated for residential use. Parkland continues
to dominate the valley real estate as far as the Pennsylvania state line.

Close to the Bancroft Mills, on the site of the old St. Helena‘'s Road workers' ‘housing
which once stood immediately upstreem of the mills, is Brandywine Falls--a gated com-
munity of townhouse and flat-type condominiums. Perpendicular to the north entrance

to the plant {s Rockford Road; the main access to the subject site, this refers to a
ribbon development of residential housing, comprised both of renovated workers' housing
and new elements. To the east close by is a row of renovated workers' housing which
lines the east side of the more secondary Ivy Road, parallel to Rockford Road. At the
mill-end of these residential enclaves are three buildings which, like the historic
housing, were once part of the mill complex: these are ?1) a former research building,
built in the last fifty years, (2) a former time-clock house, now greatly rebuilt and
used for storage, and (3) an unidentified barn-like brick building (c.1911) now used for
equipment storage for the Brandywine Falls community (Figure 1). High above the complex
is & residential community dominated by comfortable upper-middle-class housing built
largely in the first quarter of the twentieth century. This is interspersed occasion-
ally by a few survivors of the older millowners' mansions and by infill properties re-
sulting from recent subdivisions. The sloping road which leads to the downstream
(Kentmere) gate, runs from the head of Olmstead's Bancroft Parkway (NR) allowing access
to the surviving open space. The steep slopes behind the subject site are wooded, pro-
viding a vegetative barrier which visually isolates the Mills from the latter-da
environment generally associated with the higher ground.

The complex itself is a conscious expression of man having worked with nature to create
an outstanding sense of place. Within this context, the isolated canyon-1ike character
of the location has been civilized by terracing which allows for three or four levels
of landscape between the river and the cliffs. The building stock constructed at
riverside on the terraces is strictly functional, largely devoid of ornamentation anci
unnecessary elements. There are approximately fifty such structures, many of which

are three-sided units appended to more substantial buildings.

Practical rather than aesthetic, the complex identifies a notable melange--a unique
industrial landscape. Other than in the semi-refined stonework that survives in

Please see Continuation Sheet 7A
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building 1, there is little of a deliberate architectural character to the place. Those
buildings which are easily defined can be set up in one of four industrial types, each
distinguished by their materials: (1) stone, (2) brick, (3) concrete ard steel, and

(4) corrugated metal and cement block. Significantly, each compares to some degree with
peers in the Delaware Valley and elsewhere. The skeletal steel buildings, some of which
demonstrate the trabeated characteristics of the early factories of Albert Kahn, are
particularly notable for the fact that all had been built by 1911. Likewise, the piered
brick buildings were built in the late nineteenth century, and the stone buildings
represent earliest construction.

The size and/or the length of the buildings, their materials, locations, and fenestra-
tion--or lack of fenestvation--all provide strong suggestion for the particular functions
put to various units or groups. The diverse shapes and structures of the buildings
testify to the rapid and makeshift expansion occasioned by the Mills' history, buildings
chock-a-block with additions exist close to buildings which have survived virtually as
they were originally intended. Likewise, roofscapes, aclutter with monitors and ranges
of saw-toothed skylights, identify at once the use of natural light as an industrial
resource and the cumulative aspects of the growth of the plant.

The terraces provide a strong cohesive force, supplying a subtle sense of verticality

to what is otherwise an extensive but confined linear landscape. The levels provided

by the terraces allow not only for three relatively parallel cartways to be inserted

in the narrow plane; the terraces also provide a rationale for a limited number of banked
buildings, allowing some choices for grade level access and egress to and from particular
work spaces. Bridge connectors provide a further and higher horizon; adding a below-grade
dimension are the remnants of the Rockford headrace, still visible as a waterway from the
dam to the filtration plant and recessed but dry adjacent to Buildings 44 to 50.

Generally the footprint of the complex refers to the conso!idation and rebuilding
after 1895 of two separately owned 1840's millsites. The subsequent location of the
principal power plant (Building 25) between the two properties by 1911 essentially
linked the two as one. Each plant continued, however, to operate as a separate de-
partment within the Bancroft Mills. The Rockford plant (the original Bancroft Mill)
tended generally to dyeing while the Kentmere plant (the former Brandywine Mills)
worked with bleaching and finishing operations. Some elements, however, survive from
the 1840's to 1860's. These are discernible at both sites, particularly in the regu-
lated fenestration, the straightforward forms, and the rubble stone walls of Buildings
46 and 48 (Rockford) and Building 10 (Kentmere). ;

Within the context of pre-1905 construction, stuccoed stone walls and piered brick walls
identify buildings which also feature interiors of slow-burning mill construction. Dat-
ing from the mid-to-late nineteenth century, these interiors employ posts which are
efther square (and capped with iron or timber flanges) (Plates 1 and 3) or turned (and
capped in cast iron){Plate 2). In wurk of the early twentieth century, when skylights
made great inroads in mill construction, wall windows also seem to have concentrated on
large expanses. Some single windows of the pre-1800 era do remain, particularly in the
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Rockford section, but the later attention to wide expanses of glazing was articulated by
twinned windows set in plain frames, often large enough to accommodate sash of an aggre-
gate up to 32/32 lights. Just as these oversized openings suggest, the interior spaces
were high, sometimes reaching to the extent of two flcor levels.

At ihe various roof levels of the older buildings, rather complex truss sytems support
the shallow roofs and saw-toothed skylights. Some of these fit no special identity as
to type, suggesting instead that they were a carpenter's solution to the particular
problems provoked by the spatial needs of particular textile processes at hand. In the
newer buildings o7 concrete and steel, post-and-beam construction, the interiors repre-
sent the straightforward fireproof construction typical of the early twentieth century
"factory," with floor and wall spaces opened to a greater degree than had been allowed
by the slow-burning construction.

The fifty-three surviving buildings and structures provide a strong representation of
the various functions related to textiie manufacture or finishings, and all but four
buildings are fifty vears old or older.

Only the Kentmere plant presently serves as a textile mill, however; in the Rockford
plant, buildings serve yenerally as offices or (textile) warehouse space. The inventory
which follows under Item 7, pages 7C through 7L, addresses the particular characteris-
tics of the components of the complex.

In summary, the inventory indicates that all buildings except Buildings 7a, 42, 44,
and 67 contribute to the specific characteristics of an integrated textile mill of the
turn of the century. Notably, all buildings relate to the property history and none
therefore are intrusions. Buildings 11, 28, 35, and 45 are known no longer to exist.’

See Figure 1, attached, for a base map of existing conditions.
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Building 1 is a two-story-plus-basement "accumulated" stone buiiding, dating largely from
1903. Its cumulative dimensions approximate 445' x 100'. Commonly referred to as the
Kentmere main building, it represents a mix of old and new with the latter elements built
after 1899, replacing or adding to the main building of the pre-1895 Brandywine Cotton
Mi1l (Figure 2). Rusticated ashlar stonework, usually assuciated with formal facades,

is featured in a small portion of the south wall, suggesting ‘the survival of some of

the old Riddle plant, a rather prepossessing "French Empire" structure (Figure 2). In
1905 an extension was added which allowed for additional machinery for tne new mercer-
izing depariment (Bounds, 1951:89). By 1906, an additicnal ¥loor was constructed to
enlarge the so-called Grey Room (Bounds, 1951:90), and in 1913 a portion (as yet
unidentified) was also added.to process silk and cotton textiles (Bounds, 1951:105).

The old Kentmere race, now unaccessible, runs under this buiiding (Lubin, 1984). In 1927
the starch room and bleach house occupied the first floor while finishing was done on the
second floor; a water wheel was in the northwest corner of the basement ?Sanborn, 1927:
242). 1In 1961 Kentmere lawn was produced in this building, and cooling cans and tenters
were among the machines occupying the second floor, with twelve kiers and other machines
on the first floor. Two pent houses stood on the roof in 1961; one served as a mixing
room for the tenters on the second floor (Pulsifer, 1961; Figure 3). The building pre-
sently serves as the main building of the Wilmington Finishing Company (WFCO), and thus
continues its significant contribution to property history. Both historically and
visually Building 1 constitutes a major contribution to the complex.

Building 2 is a two- and three-story building located between Buildings 1 and 16 over the
old Feaarace.' The property was built by 1911 (Figure 4) and probably in 1898 {Bounds,
1951:74). The third floor was probably erected in 1920 when an additional floor was
approved for Building 2 (Bounds, 1951:119). A portion of this upper space is referred

to as the fourth floor in 1961 (Pulsifer, 1961). The building has long been associated
with the Kentmere bleachery. In this reference, in 1961, a portion of the first floor
was recorded as set aside for cold storage while sinae machines occupied the second

and third (fourth?) floors (Pulsifer, 1961). Now part of WFCo, Building 2 contributes

to the interpretation of post-waterpower history of the complex. It also contributes to
the history of the finishing processes for which the property was long renowned.

Building 3 is a five-swory building banked into the hillside between Buildings 6 and 7.
In 1931 it was recorded in an aerial photograph (Plates 4 and 5), but no identification
as to early use has been found. 1In 1961 the upper two floors served as storage and the
third floor as a packing area. The first and second floors housed embossing and friction
callenders (Pulsifer, 1561). Now part of WFCo, Building 3 coatributes to the pre-1931
history of the complex and continues to function as a part of the textile industry.
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Building 4 is a one-story structure which bridges the main Kentmere cartwiay between
Buildings 1 and 5, and Building 6. In 1961 this served as a callender room (Pulsifer,
1961). Only a porticn of this structure, an office space, is recorded in 1927 (Sanborn,
1927:242). Now part of WFCo, it holds limited significance for the complex (Plate 6).

Building 5 is a five-story stone building, 35' x 30', which stands south of Building 1,
separated by the flyway of Building 4. This is probably the saie structure for which
construction was approved for use as a mixing house for soda in 1209 (Bounds, 1951:93).
In 1927 this property contained a beetle room and a soda house (Sanborn, 1927:242), each
of which referred to processes implicit in mercerizing. An additional floor to this
building (probably the fifth floor) had been approved in 1920 (Bounds, 1951:119). Now
part of WFCo, Building 5 contributes to the complex hecause it, refers to specific and
early processing factors.

In 1961 it served as a storage area. Now part of WFCo, it ¢ in be reccrded
at least to 1927, and thus ¢ ntributes to the fifty-year history of the complex with
emphasis on the use of acid «n the finishing process. :

Building 6, adjacent to Building %, on the east, was built as an acid house (Bounds,
1951:105).

Building 7, Yocated at the west end of the Kentmere plant, is a five-story, brick-faced
steel ann - '_rete building (Plate 6). An additional floor, presumabl “he fifth floor,

was appr - ec¢ 'n 1920 (Bounds, 1951:119). A1l floors were used for stc "age in 1961. Neow
part of Wrco, building 7 contributes "' reason of its "factory" construction, indicative
of Bancroft's ~arly use of fircoroof i1ndustrial construction. ' Its location also makes

Building 7 easily visible (Plate 6). | . |
Building 7a is a concrete loading dock roofed with metal.” Records suggest.this Kentmere
structure was built after 1922, and it is recorded on site in 1961. Now part of WFCo,
Building 7a (Plate 6) seems to lack a fifty-year history, and therefore seems to be a

nen-contributing component.

Building 8 is a three-story building adjacent to Building 1. In 1961 the basemeat was
used for color mixing basic to Aristos storage; the first floor housed book cloth opera-

tions (Pulsifer, 1961). Now part of WFCo, Building 8 can be documented at least to 1931.
It contributes by reason of its fifty-year history and by reason of its role in finishing

process history.

Building 9 has not been identified, and may be incorporated within another building,

Building 10 is a banked four-story-and-basement stone building with roof of shallow
pitch (PTate 6). Approximately 40' x 30' this is probably a rare survivor from the

Riddle Mills and may originally have been Building 2, a weaving space probably completed
by 1854 and recorded by 1866 (Hexamer, 1866:420) (Figure 2). If so, a wheelhouse and
a tailrace once stood close to the north wall. In 1875 weaving still took place on
floors one through four (Hexamer, 1875:872, 873). In 1961 open stock areas were assiyned
to the upper three floors while the first and second fioors were allottei to storage of
chemicals and tubes. The present usc of this building has been undetermined. Now part
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of WFCo, Building 10 contributes heaviiy to the complex both by reason of integrity of
building form and industrial reference.

Building 11 no longer exists. In 1927 it served a: a loading platform on the north
side of the river opposite Building 1.

Building 12 is a six-story building iocated on the middle terrace &t Kentmere. An accumu-
Jated building, the first two stories are stone and brick. Possibly built prior to 1899,
the building was then enlarged in 1909 for use as a singe house (Bounds, 1951:92). By
1927 the third through sixth stories were recorded as of steel frame construciion
{Sanborn, 1927:242). In 1961 the first floor was the turbine rcom and the second floor
was occupied by winders and terters. The newer, uppsr floors were used for griege

layout and storage (Pulsifer, 1961). Now part of WFCo, Building 12 contributes both

by reason of its early factory construction and its long-term reference to historical

function.

Building 13 is a flat-roofed, three-story banked building, boasting unusually large bands
of windows for its modest size. Close to Building 1, in 1927 it was used for storage.
Now part of WFCo, Building 13 speaks well of the variety which charecterizes the complex
and therefore it contributes to the comple:.

Building 14 has not been jdertified, and may be incorporated in another building.

Building 15 is a two-story brick structure which connects with Buildings 12 and 6 in
Kentmere. In 1927 it was used as a singe house, a function it served as-well in 1961
(Pulsifer, 1961). Now part of Wrlc, Building 15 contributes to the complex by reason

of function and siting.

Building 16 is a two-story-plus-basement building, 210 x 125° close to the-oid headrace
of the Kentmere plant. Probably constructed in at least two phases, this was first built
in 1900 (Bounds, 1951:93) and extended before 1920 (Bounds, %951:118). The property em-
phasizes heavy construction with such features as iron columns and girders and a concrete
first floor (Sanborn, 1927:242). In 1927 this served as a bleach house, - function it
continued to serve in 1961. The cloth run which once extended from Rockf..d to Kentmere
connected with the west wall of this building. (The covered chute, nc longer extant, was
authorized in 1911 (Bounds, 1951:99). It is pictured often (Plates 4 and 5)). Now part
of WFCo, Building 16 contributes to the finishing history of the property, providing

special reference to the pre-1911 era.

Building 17 is a three-story building, 125' x 20' which connects with Buildirg 19. In
1927 th%s was a one-story building used as a chemical mixing house. In 1961 chemicals

were stored here. Now part of WFCo, it provides a long history of the use of chemicals
to i~ : processes dealt. with at Bancroft; therefore, it contributes to the complex.

Building 18 is a five-story steel and concrete building banked into the hillside on

the upoermost level at Kentmere. It is recorded by 1911 (Figure 4} bhut unidentified.
A conveyor connected this with Building 12 in 1927 {Sanborn, 1927:242) (Plate 4). In
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1961 the building functioned as space for bale and roll storage and featured 2 loading
platform close to the upper terrace railroad track. One of the few service buildings
to survive essentially as it was first intended, Building 18 contributes to the pre-

1911 history of the complex.

Building 19 1s a three-story steel-framed building, 20' x 55'. In 1927 the third story
.. Jonnected with Building 22. The function has not been determined h.  1ike Buildings

7 and 18, 1t contributes by reason of its early trabeated constructiv.i, signifying the
interest in fireproof (as opposed to slow-burning) construction by 1911.

Building 20 is attached to Buflding 16(a).Its historic function has not been determined.
The degree to which it contributes, therefore, cannot be estimated at *his time.

Building 21 has not been identified, and may be {ncorporated {n another bui{lding,

Building 22 1s a one-story building, dating from before 1927 and recorded in 1961 as a
weld shop (Pulsifer, 1961). Now part of WFCo, this 1s a service building with a long his-

tory which shows it as contributing to the complex.

Building 23 is a three-story building, 80' x 60', probably buiit in 1908 (Bounds, 1951:

. In 1927 the lower floors were used as a machine shop and box shop (Sanborn, 1927:
242)., In 1961 the building still served as a machine shop. Located on the upper ter-
race of the Kentmere tract, Building 23 and Building 24 are easily visible from the
river (Plates 4 and 5). Building 23 contributes a strong visual and historical statement.

Building 24 is a three-story building, 80' x 60'. Both basement and first floors are
concrete. A portion of this building in 1927 served as a carpenter shop (Sanborn, 1927:
242); in 1961 this was a pipe shop (Pulsifer, 1961). Building 24 has a support role
more than fifty years old; it therefore contributes by reason of its emphasis on the
administrative integration of service factors in turn-of-the-century industry. -

Building 25 was begun in 1909 (datestone in west corner). The smokestack and foundation
were completed in 1911 (Bounds, 1951:99). A hugh pile (50' x 200'), this is at once

a boiler house and the landmark central unit fo the complex, located on the middle ter--
race of the consolidated plant. In 1927 eight boilers operated from this building.

Its 250' .stack, visible for more than a mile along the river, stands immediately north
of the power house (Plates 7 and 8), emphasizin? the strong visual contribution made

by Building 25. Building 25 contributes as well in that it literally consolidated the

Riddle and Bancroft plants.

Building 26 is a four-story brick building, irregular .n‘plan but approximating 50' x
ate 7). Originally part of a triangular three-building element, encompassing

Buildings 26, 27, and 28 (no Yonger standing), this was probably originally a drug

warehouse (Bounds, 1951:89), specifically for the storage of ingredients used in dyeing.
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In 1927 this unit was used for storage of cotton cloth (Sanborn, 1927:242). In 1961 it
served a similar function. Together with Building 27, Building 26 contributes by reason
of its historic service function. The mass created by its relationship to Building

27 (g.v.) also emphasizes its contribution as a terminal vista (Plate 7).

Building 27, a drug storehouse in 1927, was the center element of a_three-building unit
mmediately west of the boiler house. Viewed from the west, its oblique end wall is
blank at the first floor level, indicating the original placement of Building 28 (Plate
7). Building 27 visually defines the end of Rockford and the beyinning of Kentmere, thus
it contributes significantly as a terminal vista in a man-made landscape (Plate 7).

Building 28 no linger exists. Used as a laboratory in 1927, this was a one-story
buiTding, approximately 15' x 35'. 1In 1961 it was the hospital.

Building 29 is & five-story stuccoed stone and brick building, 70' x 40'. Eleven bays
Tong, this is a straightforward rectangular building built at the east end of Rockford's

upper terrace in 1884 (datestone). It is documented in photos by 1888 (Plate 8). In
1892 this was a woodworking shop and in 1927 a storage facility and office. Rag and
remnant rooms occupied the space in 1961. Now renovated for professional office use,
the interior features new spaces reached by a centrally-located open-tread dogleg
staircase. Although recent changes, including the removal of original sash, have some-
what affected integrity, Building 29 contributes both by reason of its placement and its

long-time historical reference.

Building 30 is a four-story brick building approximately 50' x 55', built on the site
of a boiler house built before 1905 (Plate 9). In 1927 this was an office. 1In 1961

a portion of the main office occupied the second floor. The building has recently been
renovated outside and in and now serves as professional office space. Although newly
rendered in stucco (Plate 10), Building 30 contributes particularly because, with ‘
Building 29, it provides a range of similar building forms which wall the site, re-
sulting in a formidable sense of dimension in the south tler.

Buildings 31, 32, and 33 no longer exist. These were relatively modest three-story
spaces (Plate 8). In 1927 Buildings 31 and 32 were offices, and Building 33 was used
in part as the executive dining room. In 1961 a cafeteria occupied the first and

second floors with storage above.

Building 34 is located south of the principal cartway, Oppésitegthe west end of Building
41, This is a small structure which in 1927 functioned as a hose house (Sanborn, 1927:

242). It still serves that role; inside is a portable engine. Building 34 contributes
by reason of its reference to an in-house fire department. :

Building 35 no longer exists. A two-story frame building, it stood close to Rockford
Road on the south side of the present parking lot. It is visible in a 1931 photo

(Plate 4).
Builuing 36 has not been jdentified and may be incorporated in another building.

\
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Building 37 has not been identified, and may be incorporated in another building,
Building 38 has not been identified, and may be incorporated in another building.
Building 39 has not been identified other than it related to thé Rockford plant.
Building 40 has not been identified, and may be incorporated in' another building.

Building 41 is a filter plant. The successor to a settling pool built in 1860 to provide
clean water for bleaching, this is located at the end of the existing race and adjacent
to a settling tank on the west end of the Rockford plant. it is roofed over close to
ground level (Plate 11 and Plates 4 and 5). 1In 1927 a (FP 600 RPM) Buffalo turbine was
housed here. The property still serves as a filter plant for the WFCo. With its

strong references to the bleaching process and to the adaptive reuse of the race as a
water supply and the Brandywine as an industrial resource, Building 41 contributes

significantly to the complex. ;

Building 42 is a narrow frame hyphen between Buildings 41 and 44. 1t holds no major
significance to the history of the complex because it seems to be less than fifty years

old.

Building 43 is a pump house relating to the operable portion of the Rockford race.
Because Building 43 relates closely in function to Building 41, it contributes to the

complex.

Building 44 is a two-story-above-basement reinforced-concrete building erected after
1905 (Plates 9 and 10), before 1931 (Plates 4 and 5), and rebuilt after 1940. An ice
house occupied part of this property in 1927. In 1866 this was the approximate site of
a stone-and-frame boiler house and blacksmith shop with a balconied warping house
attached to the interior northeast wall (Hexamer, 1866:102}. In 1961, a testing labora-
tory occupied the upper floors, while the basement was utilized for engraving-roll
storage (Pulsifer, 1961) (Figure 5). Currently this serves as the gallery, studio, and
home of noted sculptor Charles Parks, Sr. The building (Plates 11, "~ . and 13) houses
other office space as well. Considerable interior renovation has takei .iace in the
last decade to accommodate current functions; included in this work was the elimination
of a limited amount of second floor space to provide the height necessary to create
Parks' monumental "Madonna of Peace." Because this is largely a structure tthich is
less than fifty years old, the property presently is a non-contributing component.
After 1990, however, its function as a laboratory may emphasizc a greater significance,
as will ultimate reference to its present use,

Building 45 is no longer standing. It had been one of the buildings constructed over
the Rockford race in the twentieth century, probably in 1903 as a storehouse and
packing room (Bounds, 1951:87) (Plate 14).

M
1
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is a makeshift truss which incorporates wrought iron tension rods. In 1961 thz upper
two floors were relegated to office space and storage, functions which the building
serves at the present time. With a history akin to that of Building 46 and with a
location that emprasizes an unbroken range of principal structures at riverside, this
contributes greatly to the interconnecting character of the complex.

Building 50a, appended to Building 50, built above it and over the race, is A stone
and brick structure, five stories high, built after 1892 (Plate 19). In 1961 it was
used for the storage of rolls and open stock, as well as chemicals (Pulsifer, 1961).
On the upper floor, wood posts feature the complex's characteristic cast iron caps;
a butterfly-type roof employs a standard beam system (Plate 1). An integral part of
the riverside scheme, it contributes to the complex.

Building 51, attached to Building 50 on the east (Plate 12), is a five-story accu.u-
Jated building which represents, in part, the Rockford dyehouse, built before 1892
(Hexamer, 1892:2556). New floors were added in 1898 and the building was further
extended the following year to contain mercerizing machines (Bounds, 1951:74). By
1961 the dyehouse operation had been assigned tc the tiered riverside sections of
Buildings 50, 51, and 52 (Pulsifer, 1961). In Building 51, in particular, five
examiners were featured on the inland first and second floors where there were also
spaces for roll storage. Packing and shipping took place on the third floor while
dryers were among the machines occupying fourth floor space. The building is presently
vacant, but its long history and its part as one of an unbroken chain of riverside-
buildings emphasize the great degree to which it contributes to'the complex.

Building 52 is a four-story building which combines masonry and light frame members

to emphasize a curtain wall construction which allows for great expanses of glass

at the upper levels. Originally built before 1892 as a dyehouse (Hexamer, 1892:2556),
it was rebuilt or enlarged in 1899 and 1904 (Bounds, 1951:89) and continued to operate
as a dyehouse (Sanborn, 1927). This features a roof of single pitch with rolled and
riveted 1 beams as upper level vertical members. In 1961 the machinery contained here
included a mangle on the first floor, a dip box and tenters on the second fioor. A
steel-framed mezzanine served as a starch mixing space fir the tenters, and the rem-
nants of steel pans, 20' to 30', still survive in the lower area. Dry cans and a steam
agar were included in the third floor machinery. It is nw virant. Construction
details, emphasizing form following function, point to a majar ventribution provided

by this building, which is historically significant as well as s“ructurally significant.

Building 53 has not been identified. If thiswasor is close to Buildirngs 51 and 52, it
may have served as a drug house in 1892 (Hexamer, 1892:2556), and thus would contribute

to the pre-1931 integrity of the complex.

. Built in 1904 (datestone), this buildings was set into a bank and stuc-
coed, and is characterized by paired windows with an aggregate of 24/24 sash. In 1927
this was dyehouse #3. In 1961 the first floor was used in part for an analine black

Building 54 is a two-story-plus-basement brick building approximately 90' x 40'
{PTage %55
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is a makeshift truss which incorporates wrought iron tension rods. In 1961 thz upper
two floors were relegated to office space and storage, functions which the building
serves at the present time. With a history akin to that of Building 46 and with a
location that emprasizes an unbroken range of principal structures at riverside, this
contributes greatly to the interconnecting character of the complex.

Building 50a, appended to Building 50, built above it and over the race, is A stone
and brick structure, five stories high, built after 1892 (Plate 19). In 1961 it was
used for the storage of rolls and open stock, as well as chemicals (Pulsifer, 1961).
On the upper floor, wood posts feature the complex's characteristic cast iron caps;
a butterfly-type roof employs a standard beam system (Plate 1). An integral part of
the riverside scheme, it contributes to the complex.

Building 51, attached to Building 50 on the east (Plate 12), is a five-story accu.u-
Jated building which represents, in part, the Rockford dyehouse, built before 1892
(Hexamer, 1892:2556). New floors were added in 1898 and the building was further
extended the following year to contain mercerizing machines (Bounds, 1951:74). By
1961 the dyehouse operation had been assigned tc the tiered riverside sections of
Buildings 50, 51, and 52 (Pulsifer, 1961). In Building 51, in particular, five
examiners were featured on the inland first and second floors where there were also
spaces for roll storage. Packing and shipping took place on the third floor while
dryers were among the machines occupying fourth floor space. The building is presently
vacant, but its long history and its part as one of an unbroken chain of riverside -
buildings emphasize the great degree to which it contributes to'the complex.

Building 52 is a four-story building which combines masonry and light frame members

to emphasize a curtain wall construction which allows for great expanses of glass

at the upper levels. Originally built before 1892 as a dyehouse (Hexamer, 1892:2556),
it was rebuilt or enlarged in 1899 and 1904 (Bounds, 1951:89) and continued to operate
as a dyehouse (Sanborn, 1927). This features a roof of single pitch with rolled and
riveted 1 beams as upper level vertical members. In 1961 thae machinery contained here
included a mangle on the first floor, a dip box and tenters on the second fioor. A
steel-framed mezzanine served as a starch mixing space fir the tenters, and the rem-
nants of steel pans, 20' to 30', still survive in the lovwer area. Dry cans and a steam
agar were included in the third floor machinery. It is nw virant. Construction
details, emphasizing form following function, point to a majar ventribution provided

by this building, which is historically significant as well as s“ructurally significant.

Building 53 has not been identified. If thiswasor is close to Buildirngs 51 and 52, it
may have served as a drug house in 1892 (Hexamer, 1892:2556), and thus would contribute

to the pre-1931 integrity of the complex.

- Built in 1904 (datestone), this buildings was set into a bank and stuc-
coed, and is characterized by paired windows with an aggregate of 24/24 sash. In 1927
this was dyehouse #3. In 1961 the first floor was used in part for an analine black

i

Building 54 is a two-story-plus-basement brick building approximately 90' x 40'
{PTage %5)
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washer. The second floor served as roll storage for tenters for the Eddystone,
Pennsylvania, plant and the third floor was occupied by dry cans and an agar
(Pulsifer, 1961). Now part of WFCo, this service building was integral to the pre-
1931 operation, and therefore contributes to the complex.

Building 55 is a shed-type structure, open-ended on the east and attached on the
west to Building 63 (Plate 25). Now part of WFCo, this seems to have been a color
house in 1927. The asbestos-clad flume, or cloth conveyor, started from this point
(Plates 4 and 5) to carry cloth to the Kentmere plant.

Building 56 is a minor building which in 1961 served as a fire pump/hose house. It
olds no major historical significance, but it contributes just as does Building 34.

Building 57 is a warehouse on the north shore, outside of the complex, as it is pre-
sently aefined.

guglgings 58, 59, 60, 61, and 62 have not been located but may be integrated in existing
abric.

Building 63 is a three-story brick building, 30' x 35'. It served as a color house,
a function 1t continued to serve in later years. 1In 1961, the first floor was the
anaiine black dyehouse and the third floor the makeup rocs for analine black dye.
The second floor served as a receiving and mixing area (Pulsifer, 1961) (Plates 24
and 25). This is now part of WFCo. Considering its reference to the prominence of
black dye, a factor with significant reference in the property history, Building 63

contributes to the complex.

Building 64 has not been identified.

Building 66 is a two-story CMU and galvanized structure roofed in metal (Plate 6).
This stands close to the Kentmere gate below the cartway. In 1961 it was a part of

the Pyroxylin coating (impregnating) process relating to book-cloth material. Known
as "Arrestox,” this process was functioning in 1939, suggesting the building dates
at least from that time. Now part of WFCo, it holds 1imited significance but may be
said to contribute to the complex, reflecting a post-1911 finishing history.

Building 67 is a modest two-story brick building which stands close to Building 66

near the Kentmere gate. Its present function is unknown, but in 1961, although no
lumber was applied, it served as the Organsol building with mixing and storage allotted
to each floor (Pulsifer, 1961). Now part of WFco, it was not recorded in 1931 (Plate
4) so cannot be considered as contributing to the history of the complex for National

Register purposes.

Two iron-trussed bridges relate to the complex. One is located between Buildings 54
and 42, between the Rockford and Kentmere plants. The other crosses the Brandywine
to connect Building 1 with the north shore. These bridges, each composed of & Pratt
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deck truss, were built c.1909 to allow cart and pedestrian access to new rail services.
Each is recorded by 1911 (Figure 4). Rare surviving examples of their type in Delaware,
these were not recorded in the 1982 bridge survey (Fitzsimmons, 1982). In reference

to the complex they contribute to identification of that point in time when the mills
were at their peak, using two railroads (one on the north shore) for transport.

The Rockford Dam and Headrace were built in 1878 (datestone). Constructed of blue
granite similar to some fo the stone which characterizes some parts of Building 1,

the dam and upper race are well maintained Brandywine Valley landmarks (Plates 26,

27, and 28). Integral to the water power history of the mill, and used even after
steam was first inaugurated, these structures, which reflect at least the third gener-
ation of such construction at the site, contribute greatly to the long-term interpre-
tation of the property. They are still in use, supplying water to the filter plant.

The J. Morton Poole House is a three-bay, two-story dwelling built above a banked i
basement. Perhaps related in part to one of the original dwellings on Joseph Bancroft's
1831 property, this in the 1840's was the home of J. Mortcn Poole, a machinist, who,

" in addition to being Bancroft's brother-in-law, later became a renowned lower Delaware
Valley-area machinist. From 1862 to c.1894 this was the home of Andrew Wilde, bleacher
and dyer, the principal employee who trained John Bancroft Sr. The house features a
south front facade, protected by a shed-roof porch which overhangs the cellar area.

The pitched roofline is articulated at the gable ends by pediments, the south one of
which is marked with the date of 1836. Although the house has been substantially
renovated, including several changes in window detail, the general image and its set-
tirg provide strong historical references. It presently serves as a private residence

in the Brandywine Falls community (Plates 11 and 12)}. As the oniy domecile which
survives close to the riverside and within sight of the mills, the Poole House provides
a strong contribution to the long-term interpretation of the complex.

ALL MEASUREMENTS OF BUILDINGS ARE APPROXIMATE AND TAKEN FROM A PHOTOCOPY OF A 1$26/7
INSURANCE SURVEY OF THE COMPLEX.
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Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) }

The Bancroft Mills complex, with the longest history of textile milling in the Brandy-
wine Valley, represents the building forms and spatial patterns contrived by an industry
which developed continucusly from 1848 to 1922. The propeity was described in 1889 (when
the prope.'ty was less than half the size of the present plant) as the largest textile
finishing company in the United States (Hoffecker, 1977:35). It grew rapidly after

that time until by 1950 it was referred tu as “one of the largest textile finishing
operations on earth" (Anonymous, 1950). The sprawling character of the complex attests
to remarkable technical accomplishments, all of which occurred as a consequence of early
successes. The 1840's spinning mill which spawned the later expansion was itself the
first local such enterprise to employ state-of-the-art technology. The extant property
represents the first mill to produce curable window shades as well as the first in
America to employ mercerizing (a treatment to increase a fatric's strength, luster, and
affinity for dye) for the trade. By the 1940's the Bancroft Mills laboratory revolu-
tionized the whole concept of fabric usage when it produced a synthetic resin which
allowed for crease resistance with a minimum of loss in fabric strength. With the
subsequent emphasis on synthetic fibers for textiles, the company also produced a first
by texturing a man-made fiber. These accomplishments, which provided America with such
household words as Hollands and mercerizing and later added "Sunfast,” "Everfast," and
"Banlon" to international vocabulary, represents a long-time miil history which ranges
from the rise of the factory system through "laissez-faire" and into the era of govern-
ment intervention in industry. Its family history, furthermore, ranges from the era

of the artisan-craftsman-entrepreneur to the era of the industrial magnate-phitanthropist.
The success of the former led to the benevolence of the latter, making possible the basis
for New Castle County's park system, the Wilmington Public Library, and the Delaware
Museum of Art. As a conscious expression of all that such industrial and social achkieve-
ment means to the Brandywine Valley and beyond, the Bancroft Mills hold significance at
local, state, and national levels, providing strong associative values to the history of
industry and invention. In direct reference to National Register criteria, Bancroft
Mills embodies -~» distinctive characteristics of a turn-of-the-century industry. It

also possesses the physical attributes necessary to express adequately the interdependence
of diverse tasks involved in the finishing processes for which it was renowned (Criterion
A). Its association with inventions that have made a significant contribution to the
broad patterns of industry also emphasize the strength to which it addresses Criterion A.
In reference to Criterion B, Bancroft Mills, as a long-time family-owned and -managed
operation, is associated with the lives of persons signficant to the local past. William
P. Bancroft, one of the founders of Bancroft Mills, was nineteenth-century Wilmington's
most outstanding philanthropist (Hoffecker, 1983:33). He donated substantial sections
of open space in and near Wilmington as public perkiand, thus initiating the New Castle
County Park System. William Bancroft alsc provided the beginning of the Wilmington
Library. Samuel Bancroft, who owned Every Evening, a Wilmington newspaper which

was the voice of the Democrats in Delaware, died in 1915, leaving a notable collection
of pre-Raphaelite art. Following the death of his son, Joseph, Samuel Bancroft's great
collection in 1938 became the nucleus of the Delaware Museum of Art. The museum, the
library, ana many sections of the parklands are located within two niles of the mills which

. Ak a cimindaiin Lawms
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structures, and materials appropriate to a time of rapid transition; they elude as well
to the turn of the century as an expansion, a time that had encouraged both makeshift
growth and innovation. The chance location of the turn-of-the-century mills, an opera-
tion which relied heavily on the technology of chemistry, in a city renowned for its
chemical industries is also significant. The more historically determined riverside
location of the property adds further significance in that it has promoted a curving,
terraced plan which is unique to Bancroft Mills (Criterion C). In the realm of invention
Bancroft Mills provides peripheral reference to some of the earliest use in the Delaware
valley of technology in the textile industry; moreover, the property as it presently
stands, refers more directly to process and chemical inventions which allowed Joseph
Bancroft & Sons Co., Inc. to achieve and retain a renowned reputation from the 1860's
through the 1950's (Criterion A).

Joseph Bancroft & Sons Co. ceased operation in 1961, The property has survived largely
intact from that time, still readable as a long-lived industrial environment. The
building stock puts further emphasis on the specific spurt of growth which occurred from
the 1880's to 1622, a time during which two adjacent mills were consolidated and over-
hauled. Significantly, although the complex was west of the built-up portion of Wilmington
in the late nineteenth century, its growth and development coincided to a time when
Wilmington was reaching its maturity as an industrial city and its harbor and rail facili-
ties were being improved. Bancroft's beginnings, however, refer to a more rural conno-
tation when the Brandywine Valley was itself emerging as a renowned industrial locus.

By 1830, for example, the duPont powder mills on the Brandywine werz the largest of their
kind (Hoffecker, 1977:35), and it was as duPont's downstream neighbors that the founder
of the Bancroft Mills established his first mill.

In 1831 Joseph Bancroft, a spinner from Britain's new industrial midlands, bought an
unused grist mill and machine shop near duPont's powder miils. Bancroft's goal was to
establish a cotton mill capable of spinning cambric muslin equal in quality to that
produced in Britain. In addition to the old stone mill, Bancroft's purchase included

a dam, two houses, three cottages, a boiler house, a barn, 50.7 acres, and one-half the
waterpower on the Brandywine for a distance of about three-quarters of a mile downstream
(New Castle County, 1983). Operating largely on borrowed capital, Bancroft replaced the
dam, enlarged the race, improved the waterwheel, and built an operation which utilized
four hand-mules set up on the second floor of the mill. In the building's basement was
‘the machine shop of J. Morton Poole, Bancroft's brother-in-law, who later established
what has been called the most outstanding machine tool industry in America (Prince,
1927:6). The English-born Banc ~oft had much in his favor when he began his business;

he was familiar with British technology and he chose an optiaum location--one later
referred to as having the best waterpower in the state of Delaware (Scharf, 1888:11, 797).
Furthermore, he had good personal and business connections. As'part of America's organi-

|
06,/21,/2005 DE STATE HIST PRESERVATION OFFICE



(2.1 | Exp. 10-N-84

United States Department of the Interior

Mational Park Service " | For NPS use only
National Register of Historic Places received
inventory—Nomination Form e eterse
Continuation sheet item number 8 Page 8B

zational revolution of the Jacksonian era when private merchant capital was being redi-
rected into textile production, Bancroft elicited financial support from locai transpor-
tatien tycoon, Thomas Janvier. Bancroft's venture then vied with contemporary upstream
mills financed by E. I. and Alfred duPont, Daniel Lawmot, and others. (In addition to
Bancroft Mills, cotton mills had been established at Rockland (1810), Brecks Mill (1813),
and Hagiey (1814), and Bancroft himself had worked at Rockland before starting his own
enterprise.)

When he suffered heavy damage in a flood in 1839, Joseph Bancroft not only rebuilt close
by his original site, he also continued to enlarge the operation until, by 1844, he had
introduced some of the first self-acting mules and fly frames in America. He thus
mechanized to the point that one man could watch a machine produce a thread one thousand
times finer than could be produced by a hand mule (Bounds, 1951:22; Wallace, 1978:381).
The machines worked faster, broke fewer threads, and held more spindles than their ante-
cedents; moreover, they self-cleaned much of the fly and did not require a spinner to
push in the carriage during winding-on (Wallace, 1978:331).

Just as Bancroft had set up his second-generation mill at the old Job Harvey Mill site,
James Ridle and Henry Lawrence in 1845 bought the site of the nearby Gilpin paper mill,
intent on setting up yet another cotton mill on the Brandywine. Riddle and Lawrence
rebuilt on the flood-stricken shore where Joshua and Thomas Gilpin in 1787 had made

history with Delaware's first paper mill.

By 1850 their Brandywine Mills, so-called, was recorded as a well-established operation,

" with more capital investment than had Bancroft ‘t that time (United States, 1850).
{awrence sold out his half interest to his parcner in 1859 (New Castle County, 1859);
however, James Riddle then continued to enlarge the plant, increasing it almost fourfold
in less than twenty years (United States, 1870). When Riddle died in 1873, the business
was left to his son, Leander, who died intestate and without hiers in 1880 (New Castle
County, 1873, 1881). Jeannie M. Field, Leander's sister, succeeded as owner, eventually
renting the mills to C. J. Milne and Company. In 1888 the Riddle Mills featured 12,000
spindles which in part produced a weekly output of 1,200 pieces of fancy ticking, 57 yards
in each piece (Scharf, 1888:11, 801). ‘ 3

Whereas James Riddle and Son specialized in the manufacture of cheviot and fancy ticking,
Bancroft's operation as early as 1859 had added finishing, bleaching, and callendering
to its operations, preparing cotton cloth mase mostly in New England for Bancroft's
"Holland" window shades--cotton shades which, by the finishing process, were given
properties close to that of Dutch linen.

Following the Civil War, in order to emphasize the company's finishing expertise, Joseph
Bancroft & Sons established a laboratory for further experimentation in strengthening and
waterproofing cotton goods. Coloidal chemists and machinists were integral members of
the staff and the family members themselves contributed to such scientifi. emphasis.
Trained as machinists, William and Samuel Bancroft were also well versed in the chemistry
of dyes and finishes. Their cousin, John Bancroft, added his own expertise in 1877 when,
after the death of Joseph Bancroft, he came from Providence, Rhode Island, eventually.
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to supervise the finishing department. By the 1880's Samuel Bancroft was noted as the
first American finisher to make Turkey Red. The firm also gained renown for making the
first "fast black" (Eckman, 1931:86). In 1883, after beetle machines imported from
England were installed, the company produced the only window shade in the world guaran-
teed not to fade (Prince, 1927:9).

Advances in chemical and process technology at the Bancroft Mills from the 1870's on
included updating the motive power. Power to run calenders, mangles, and other over-
sized machines in 1875 was one large buckei waterwheel, twenty feet in diameter; conse-
quently, operations had to stop when the river water was low. Literally to take up the
slack, a new turbine waterwheel was installed by 1888 (Eckman, 1931:80). The use of
steam expanded over the next thirty years with boiler plants operating adjacent to
several factory buildings. Significantly, in the same era of technological change, the
0ld partnership transferred to corporate ownership in 1889 (New.Castle County, 1889),
enabling the business to raise capital more readily with limited 1iability. The Bancroft
Mills then introduced mercerizing to the American trade and grew at an ever quicker pace.
In 1895, in order to expand both its manufacturing and finishing branches, the corpora-
tion purchased the Riddle Mills (New Castle County, 1895), consclidating the two mills

in a little less than fifteen years and installing the huge central boiler plant. {

In addition to expansion of work space at both mills and improved motive power, the
consolidation took into consideration improved transport. !By 1894, in order to take
advantage of the nearby railroad lines designec to tap Pennsylvania's coal fields, the
company created a spur to the mill site. Incovporated into the consolidation plan were
several loading sheds and new railroad sidings to transport materials and finished goods
to and from the site. By 1909 service on the Pennsylcania R.R. was also integrated
across the river. By 1911 the new boiler house, which lTiterally and visually linked

the two mills was located on a terrace wide enough to afford ample siding for coal de-

livery and storage (Bancroft, 1921).

After on-site expansion was essentially complete, the company acquired by 1914 the
former Garner Mills in Reading, Pennsylvania, transferring fabric production to the
plant in order to increase the finishing capabilities at the Brandywine site. Foliow-
ing this, Bancroft put the first 8l-inch beetled Hollands made in America on the marke:t.
The so-called "Basco" finishing, a viscose process, was trademarked in 1920 (Bounds,
1951:118). By 1922 the former Kentmere headrace, the last remnant of the old water
power era, had been infilled, and the mills had achieved their present image.

With the addition of a third mill, the second mill in Pennsylvania in 1925, the Delaware
plant continued to specialize in finishes, working particularly with coated window

shedes and book cover materials. In the 1930's the plart's experiments with impregnating
polymerisable resins to make fabric crease resistent resulted in Bancroft's introduction
of the so-called Everglaze process. In 1941 New York's Lord and Taylor department store
took a full bank of its Fifth Avenue windows to introduce Bancroft's new finish for
chintzes, chambrays, and an infinite number of other fabrics made under Bancroft
licenses. World War Il interrupted further experiments, however, and it was not until
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1950 that a perfected Everglaze process was trademarked. Bancroft then licensed the
process to sixty-five top firms (Anonymous, 1950). The company's strength up to this
time had rested in the diversity and quality of its products, but, after World War 1I,
when textile manufacturing in the northeast took a major turn to the south or abroad,
Joseph Bancroft & Sons Co. ceased operation. The Wilmington plant was sold to the
present owners in 1968 (New Castle County, 1968). The remarkable and relatively un-
disturbed landscape remains, however, as do the institutions established for the publi~
good--all the result of industrial innovations that began with Joseph Bancroft and
continued with his heirs.

s <
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List ail states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state code county ' code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

- nameftitle Alice Kent Schooler, Principal Architectural Historian

organization John Milner Associates, Inc. dste July, 1984

telephone (215) 436-9000

stmt&numbef 309 North Matlack Street

city ortown West Chester state Pennsylvania 19380

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

—— national X _ state — local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Service.

Vit ClGanr

title pirector, DE Division of Hist. & Culth;g; Affairs date oct. 31, 1984

For NPS use only
| hereby certity that this property is included in the National Register

i

State Historic Preservation Otficer signature

date

Keeper of the National Register

Attest: date

Sue.s. B .8 WM. S_.a..86. .
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